NO. 70520-2-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DEREK CARTMELL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR ISLAND COUNTY

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAN TRASEN
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS DIV 1
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2014 FEB 12 PM 4:53

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting cumulative evidence of Derek Cartmell's identity through his Department of Corrections (DOC) identification card.

2. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of Mr. Cartmell's identity through the testimony of his DOC community custody officer.

3. The trial court abused its discretion by admitting 163 text messages and calls that were hearsay, irrelevant, unduly prejudicial, and cumulative.

4. The prosecutor committed misconduct by presenting improper closing argument.

5. Cumulative error denied Mr. Cartmell his state and federal constitutional right to a fair trial.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. Under Evidence Rule 403, evidence should be excluded upon objection, if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, or by considerations of the needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Did the admission of Mr. Cartmell's DOC offender card and DOC community custody officer's

testimony constitute an abuse of discretion, where this evidence was highly prejudicial and unnecessary to establish Mr. Cartmell's identity?

2. Evidence may only be admitted if it is relevant to the charges and not unduly prejudicial, in order to preserve a defendant's right to due process and a fair trial. Did the admission of hundreds of text messages recovered from Mr. Cartmell's phone constitute an abuse of discretion, when their admission was hearsay, cumulative, unduly prejudicial, and unnecessary to establish identity?

3. The State's duty to ensure a fair trial precludes the prosecutor from employing improper argument during closing. Where the prosecution's misconduct in closing argument misstated the law by shifting the burden of proof and referred to uncharged criminal conduct, was this misconduct flagrant and ill-intentioned, and was there a substantial likelihood the prosecutor's comments affected the verdict?

4. Under the cumulative error doctrine, even where no single error standing alone merits reversal, an appellate court may find that the errors together created an enduring prejudice, denying the defendant a fair trial. Considering the many errors assigned above, was Mr. Cartmell's right to due process violated, requiring reversal and a new trial?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 1, 2012, or sometime the evening before, a pick-up truck belonging to the Life Church of Oak Harbor was stolen. RP 372-74.¹ At approximately 9:00 a.m., the stolen truck caught the attention of Washington State Patrol Officer David Martin, who was patrolling the area of Crosby Road near Golf Course Road in Oak Harbor. RP 58-60. When the officer attempted to pull the truck over for speeding, the suspect sped away; the officer followed at excessive speed. RP 65-85. During the chase, the suspect discarded a number of objects from the open driver-side window, including loose papers, CD's, and various items of clothing. RP 78-79. Other than a sleeping bag, none of these personal items was recovered. RP 180-81. The chase ended when the stolen truck collided with a local home. RP 84-87, 117-19.

After the collision, Officer Martin parked his patrol car, but he was not in a position to see the face of the truck driver, as the suspect "was already out of the vehicle." RP 87. The suspect quickly ran away from the collision and continued down a local road. RP 88-89.

¹ The verbatim report of the trial consists of a consecutively-paginated volume referred to as RP __." The suppression hearing is referred to by date.

Likewise, the homeowner saw only a fleeting view of the back of the suspect's head, before the man fled over a hill and down the road. RP 120-21. The homeowner admitted, "You know, I didn't see a face." RP 120. Neither the State Patrol Officer, nor the homeowner, could identify the suspect or give a specific physical description. RP 89, 121.

After some time, Pastor Michael Hurley from the local Life Church arrived at the scene of the accident to identify and claim the church's truck. RP 134-35, 375-77. By this time, the Island County Sheriff's Department had taken charge of the investigation, and they impounded the damaged truck and had it towed to a "tow lot." RP 131-40, 378-81. Pastor Hurley accompanied the truck to the lot and consented to an initial search. RP 131-40, 378-81. Recovered from the truck were several items that, according to Pastor Hurley, did not belong to the church, including: two glass pipes used for narcotics, two small baggies containing suspected narcotics, a backpack, an extra license plate, and a red Samsung cell phone. RP 140, 380-84.

The Sheriff's Department secured the backpack and the cell phone into evidence and obtained search warrants for both items within the next few days. RP 158; CP 158-68. Pursuant to the search warrant, the

backpack and cell phone were searched for the purpose of “identify[ing] the suspect” who had been driving the stolen truck. CP 165. The search of the backpack revealed a wallet containing four identification cards belonging to Derek Cartmell, including a Washington State driver’s license, a social security card, a Quest card, and a Washington Department of Correction (DOC) Offender I.D. Card. RP 158-60.

The red Samsung cell phone was also searched, revealing text messages and telephone calls from the previous day, up to approximately ten minutes before the time of the truck’s collision. RP 15, 351; Ex. 40.

Derek Cartmell was arrested and charged with possession of a stolen vehicle, attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, possession of a controlled substance, and hit and run (property damage). CP 179-81.

Before trial, Mr. Cartmell moved in limine to exclude any reference to his DOC card as unduly prejudicial and in violation of ER 404(b). CP 174; RP 7-8. The trial court denied this request and the DOC card was shown to the jury. 5/3/13 RP 40-43, RP 160. Mr. Cartmell also moved to exclude the testimony of his DOC community custody officer as unduly prejudicial and unnecessary to establish identity. CP 174; 5/3/13 RP 19-21. This request was also denied, and

the State was permitted to call DOC Officer Helen Desmond to testify.
5/3/13 RP 40-43, RP 317-22.²

In addition, Mr. Cartmell moved in limine to exclude the admission of the text messages from the Samsung cell phone, arguing the statements contained in the messages were hearsay, and their admission denied him the right to confront those who made the statements. CP 147; RP 14-30, 322-24. The trial court allowed 163 text messages and phone calls into evidence over objection. RP 32, 322-24.³

Following a jury trial, Mr. Cartmell was convicted as charged. CP 108-11. He appeals. CP 1-13.

² Mr. Cartmell conceded that the Samsung phone had previously belonged to him, but had been stolen, along with his backpack. RP 30, 393-95, 401-02. Thus, DOC Officer Desmond's testimony concerning his contact list was cumulative.

³ The trial court recognized that Mr. Cartmell made a standing objection to the admission of the phone records and any testimony or exhibits related to them. RP 322-24.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING THE DOC EVIDENCE, INCLUDING THE I.D. CARD AND THE TESTIMONY OF THE COMMUNITY CUSTODY OFFICER, AS THIS TESTIMONY WAS IRRELEVANT, CUMULATIVE, AND CREATED UNDUE PREJUDICE.

Mr. Cartmell was denied his right to a fair trial where the court permitted the admission of the Department of Corrections (DOC) card – a card that stigmatized the accused as a felony offender -- despite the fact that there were several other forms of photo identification recovered from the backpack in the stolen truck.

a. Evidence at trial must be relevant to the crimes charged. Evidence is only relevant if it has “the tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” ER 401.

Here, the trial court permitted the admission of Mr. Cartmell’s DOC identification card, which was recovered from the backpack inside the stolen truck. The DOC card had the word “Offender” printed on the card above his photograph, and could not, as Mr. Cartmell argued, be mistaken for an employee identification badge. RP

7-8.⁴ Mr. Cartmell requested a limiting instruction, which was given as to the DOC card and as to the testimony of the DOC officer. CP 121 (Instruction 7).⁵

b. The probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Even relevant evidence may be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” ER 403. In a doubtful case, the scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant and toward exclusion. State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) (noting that the careful weighing of prejudice and relevance under ER 403 takes on particular importance in cases where there was no positive identification of the perpetrator). “Where identity of the accused is such a crucial issue, evidence of other unrelated crimes generates a good deal more heat than light, and may well be the basis upon which the jury convicts the accused.” Id. at 780.

⁴ Mr. Cartmell argued: “I’m not sure, when it says the Department of Corrections over the top of it and [is] clearly not an employee badge, that there’s anything that one can do to the document to limit its prejudicial content, and so I’m not sure there’s much that can be done in regards to that.” RP 8.

⁵ The limiting instruction, which indicated that the exhibits were only to be considered for the purpose of identification, also applied to Ex. 40, the text message evidence, which is discussed, infra.

Here, the DOC card was, at best, cumulative evidence that Mr. Cartmell was the owner of the backpack found in the stolen truck. RP 158-60. Along with the DOC card, other photo I.D.'s were recovered, including a Washington State driver's license, a Quest card, and a social security card, all in the name of Derek Cartmell. Id. These other three cards were each admitted at trial. Because the other three I.D. cards were sufficient to identify Mr. Cartmell as the owner of the backpack, the admission of the DOC card was cumulative. It was also unduly prejudicial, because labeling the accused with the word "Offender" over his photograph undermines the presumption of innocence. See In re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 707-08, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) (finding reversible prosecutorial misconduct where jury was shown booking photograph of defendant with "guilty" printed over his face). The admission of the card stigmatized Mr. Cartmell as a felony offender and encouraged the jury to speculate about his criminal history, encouraging them to find he had a propensity to commit criminal acts. ER 404(b).⁶ The limiting instruction was wholly

⁶ The DOC card was introduced in the State's case in chief, far before the trial court's ER 609 and 404(b) rulings became relevant. RP 158-60. See infra, Section 3, for additional argument on prosecutorial misconduct.

inadequate to limit the prejudicial effect of the admission of the DOC identification card. RP 7-8.

c. The probative value of the testimony of DOC community custody Officer Desmond was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. For the reasons discussed above, the testimony of DOC Officer Desmond was cumulative evidence of identity, as Mr. Cartmell had already conceded that the phone belonged to him and the contact list inside the phone was his – the only subject of Officer Desmond’s testimony. RP 30.⁷ As stated, there were three I.D. cards with Mr. Cartmell’s name recovered from the backpack in the truck, not including the DOC card, so the officer’s testimony was unnecessary to prove the element of identification.⁸

Officer Desmond’s appearance at the trial and her introduction as Mr. Cartmell’s DOC community custody officer labeled the accused as a felony offender on State supervision, overwhelming the jury’s ability to weigh the evidence. RP 317-22. The limiting instruction proposed by the defense and given to the jury was insufficient to cure

⁷ DOC Officer Desmond testified that as Mr. Cartmell’s “community corrections officer,” she was responsible for maintaining “offender report contact information forms.” RP 318-20. The officer testified that Mr. Cartmell had listed his father as his emergency contact, and she listed his name and phone number. *Id.*

the prejudicial effect of this witness's testimony. CP 121 (Instruction 7). Because Officer Desmond's testimony encouraged the jury to use propensity reasoning, the evidence was more prejudicial than probative, affecting the outcome of the trial, and should have been excluded. ER 403; Smith, 106 Wn.2d at 776; but see State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981) (finding evidentiary error to be harmless).

d. Reversal is required. Because the DOC evidence, consisting of the identification card and the testimony of the community custody officer, was irrelevant, cumulative, and was more prejudicial than probative, the trial court abused its discretion in admitting this evidence. ER 403. Where no witness could identify the driver of the truck, reversal is required due to insufficient evidence. Smith, 106 Wn.2d at 776. As our Supreme Court said, "circumstantial evidence as to the identification of the defendant as the [suspect], together with the equivocal identifications by the victims, constitutes [insufficient] evidence upon which a rational trier of fact could conclude that defendant was the perpetrator." Smith, 106 Wn.2d at 781; see Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 707-08.

⁸ Mr. Cartmell testified that the backpack recovered from the truck, as well as the phone, had been stolen from him. RP 401-04.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING
OVER 160 TEXT MESSAGES AND CALLS
FROM THE SEIZED CELL PHONE.

Over Mr. Cartmell's objection, the trial court admitted 163 text messages and phone calls retrieved from the Samsung phone seized from the stolen truck. RP 324-60; Ex. 40. Of the text messages admitted, there were 70 outgoing text messages from the phone to other individuals. Ex. 40.⁹ 54 of the messages were incoming messages to the phone. Ex. 40. Many of these text messages were personal in nature, describing intimate details of the senders' relationships. Ex. 40.

a. The messages retrieved from the phone were inadmissible as hearsay. The messages that were sent to and from the seized cell phone were inadmissible under the rule against hearsay. ER 802. Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at trial, offered into evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. ER 801(c). Generally, hearsay is not admissible as evidence unless specifically permitted by the rules of evidence, by court rules, or by statute. Id.; e.g., State v. Clinkenbeard, 130 Wn. App. 552,

⁹ The remainder of the items on the Extraction Report were phone calls that were not logged, other than by phone number called. Ex. 40. The report, which included the content of the text messages in their entirety, was an exhibit given to the jury. Id. (specific text messages are referred to from pages 12-15 of the extract only).

569, 123 P.3d 872 (2005). Hearsay is inadmissible regardless of whether the declarant testifies. See Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) (explaining that testimony can violate the prohibition against hearsay without violating the confrontation clause, and vice versa). The messages sent to and from the seized phone, and relied upon by the State for their truth, should have been excluded.

Of particular note were several text messages received by the phone that referred to criminality or criminal activities. Ex. 40 (Text 14, 64, 67). Although Mr. Cartmell testified that his phone and backpack had been stolen, it was the State's position that the seized Samsung phone had never been far from Mr. Cartmell's side during the early morning hours of November 1st. In furtherance of the State's argument, it offered the 163 text messages to and from various women who were attempting to reach Mr. Cartmell during the evening of October 31st and the early morning hours of November 1st. RP 322-24; Ex. 40. For example, a sender named "Misty" wrote, "You had so many chances and u don't seem to give a F*. So have a nice life in prisons [sic]." Ex. 40 (Texts 13, 14). The implication of Misty's text message was that Mr. Cartmell was involved in illegal activities that

should result in his incarceration; this was an impermissible inference, unduly prejudicial and in violation of ER 404(b), but one that was clearly made through the texts. ER 802.

Another sender, “Gwen,” also sent a message to the seized phone, apparently offering the assistance of a different truck, stating that she could be found “In dougs [sic] truck.” Ex. 40 (Text 64). Yet another sender sent a text, stating, “just tell me when and I have a truck. I really would like to talk about a price with you.” Ex. 40 (Text 67). In addition, each text message from “Vic” included the signature line, “F*CKDAPOLICE,”¹⁰ a statement which tainted Mr. Cartmell as much as it did the sender. Ex. 40 (Texts 2, 19, 25, 27, 30, 36, 55, 56, 57, 66, 68, 69, 70).

In sum, the references to Mr. Cartmell being dishonest or involved in criminal activities were not only unduly prejudicial, but a violation of the rule against hearsay. Ex. 40 (see also Texts. 16, 24, calling defendant a liar).

b. The messages should have been excluded as irrelevant, cumulative, and substantially more prejudicial than probative. As

¹⁰ The messages have been sanitized as much as possible, although they were unfortunately not at trial. Ex. 40. No disrespect is intended herein.

explained above, the text messages should have been excluded under the rule against hearsay. ER 802. Additionally, the messages should have been excluded as irrelevant, substantially more prejudicial than probative, and cumulative.

The majority of the text messages were intimate and laden with profanity. For example, in one text message, “Misty” wrote, “This is bullsh*t. I’m so sick of you doing this to me. Grow up and learn how to treat a girl. Your loosing [sic] this one.” Ex. 40 (Text 9). Another text from “Misty,” received a few minutes later, was also admitted, “F* U [sic] I’m tired of this I could have done something else you do this everyday to me. So have fun. I don’t need this f*ed up sh*t anymore F* U [sic].” Ex. 40 (Text 10).

There were over 120 similarly personal and unduly prejudicial text messages admitted at trial, over defense objection, and published for the jury in the Extraction Report. Ex. 40. In addition to objecting by motion in limine and by making a standing objection, Mr. Cartmell also objected to the prejudicial content of several specific text

messages. RP 344-45, 348.¹¹ In addition to strong sexual content, one text message contained a racial epithet; Mr. Cantmell's objection was overruled. Ex. 40 (Text 146); RP 148. The prosecutor emphasized the intimate messages at trial, drawing the jury's attention to the more salacious specimens through Detective Wallace's testimony and in closing argument. RP 337-50; 458-64.¹²

Furthermore, even if the messages were relevant to identity, they were cumulative and substantially more prejudicial than probative, in violation of ER 403. The messages themselves were redundant and inflammatory; for example, there were approximately 43 instances, in various conjugations, of the F-word, not to mention other profanities, in the incoming messages alone. Ex. 40.

The messages were substantially more prejudicial than probative because they portrayed Mr. Cartmell as a lying, womanizing, unreliable

¹¹ It was a rare message in the report that did not contain profanity. The messages made clear that Mr. Cartmell was engaged in a number of intimate relationships simultaneously. Ex. 40. Several messages referred to the senders' sexual liaisons. *Id.*, *passim*.

¹² The State elicited the following text message through Detective Wallace, over objection, from a sender named "Vic," "And the sex wow. That was and will always be the best sex I ever had. Derek I do love u and care for u a lot and don't u ever for get [sic] that ..." Ex. 40 (Text 31); RP 345.

“player,” as the prosecutor referred to him in closing argument.¹³ The printed report of the text messages also telegraphed a message to the jury that the State would not have been permitted to convey by way of live testimony -- specifically, that Mr. Cartmell was untrustworthy, that he belongs “in prisons” (according to his girlfriend Misty), and that he has criminal associates. RP 342; Ex. 40 (passim); see Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 709 (noting that visual “shouts” can be even more prejudicial and manipulative than those made in argument). Given the negligible probative value of the texts, the prejudicial effect of the messages substantially outweighed their relevance.

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