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

RP at 43. 

When the trial court took additional argument on how the DOC 

card would be presented at trial, it made clear that it was open to ways in 

which potential prejudice could be addressed. In returning to the issue, the 

Court stated: 

12 



lRP 8. 

"The Court: Well, I did rule that the testimony [of the DOC 
officer] would generally be relevant and admissible and 
that the document [a scanned image of the DOC card and 
the other cards], assuming it's properly authenticated, can 
come in. I did leave open other issues. For example, a 
possible redaction of the word "offender" from the card 
that Mr. Cartmell has with the Department of 
Corrections. So let's take any further argument about 
possible redactions or other tinkering, if you will, with 
the exhibit that might reduce any possible prejudice." 

Defense counsel, however, made no argument after the Court's 

suggestion and simply gave up on the issue, taking an all or nothing 

approach to the DOC card. 

lRP 8. 

"Defense Counsel: Your Honor, I'm not sure, when it says 
Department of Corrections over the top of it and clearly not 
an employee badge, that there's anything that one can do to 
the document to limit its prejudicial content, and so I'm not 
sure there's much that can be done in regards to that." 

Even after having made specific suggestions to counsel about what 

could be done to the DOC card, i.e., redaction, to limit any possible 

prejudice, the court affirmed that defense counsel did not want to make 

any adjustments to the document with the identification card. 

"The Court: Do I understand, then, that you're not asking for any 
redaction from the document? 

13 



Defense Counsel: No, Your Honor, we're not. 

The Court: Okay. That's noted." 

lRP 9. 
However, now, on appeal, the defense argues that the word 

"offender" on the DOC card, which the trial court specifically entertained 

a possible redaction of, caused unfair prejudice warranting reversal and a 

new trial. So, even though any potential for prejudice from the language 

on the DOC card did not outweigh its probative value in linking the 

defendant to the stolen vehicle, this issue was addressed by the trial court 

and it gave counsel the opportunity to prevent the possible prejudice now 

complained of on appeal. The defendant should not now benefit from his 

decision to forego the trial court's suggestion that redactions be made to 

the DOC card. 

b. Any potential for unfair prejudice resulting from 
the DOC card was diminished when the 
defendant s criminal history was appropriately 
revealed on his cross-examination 

Even if admission of the DOC card was error, the error was 

harmless. An error is "not prejudicial unless, within reasonable 

probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected 

had the error not occurred." State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389,403, 945 

P.2d 1120 (1997) (quoting State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599,637 P.2d 
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961 (1981)). "The improper admission of evidence constitutes harmless 

error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, 

overwhelming evidence as a whole." Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d at 403. 

Even if the defendant had been unfairly prejudiced by the 

admission of the DOC card in its entirety, any possible unfair prejudice 

stemming from the card was quickly diminished when the defendant 

testified. On cross examination, evidence of the defendant's prior 

convictions for crimes of dishonesty came to light. 

"Prosecutor: Mr. Cartmell, you have been In court for vanous 
instances before, correct? 

Defendant: Yes. 

Prosecutor: You've been convicted in 2008 of possession of stolen 
property in the second degree? 

Defendant: Yes. 

Prosecutor: And convicted also in 2008 for a different charge of 
possession of stolen property in the second degree? 

Defendant: Yes, I have. 

Prosecutor: And you were convicted in 2010 for making a false 
statement to a public servant? 

Defendant: Yes." 

4RP 405. 
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Any concern about the DOC card and possible unfair prejudice 

from its admission was immediately dashed once the jury was made aware 

of the defendant's actual convictions. The jury no longer had any reason to 

speculate about why the defendant would have a DOC card, as it would be 

reasonable to assume that the jury simply connected the DOC card with 

those offenses. Thus, even assuming the word "offender" on the DOC card 

carried some prejudice, it was, in effect, cured by the properly admitted 

evidence of his prior convictions. 

Thus, even assuming it was improper to admit the DOC card in its 

entirety and that it was unfairly prejudicial, the admission of the card 

could not have materially affected the outcome of the trial, and the overall, 

overwhelming evidence made any error in admitting it harmless. 

c. The jury is presumed to have used the DOC card 
for the sale purpose of identifoing the defendant as 
the driver of the stolen vehicle 

Any unfair prejudice was cured by instructions to the jury. Jurors 

are presumed to follow the court's limiting instructions. State v. Hecht ---

P.3d ----, 2014 WL 627852, Wn.App. Div. 1 (2014) (citing State v. Lough, 

125 Wn.2d 847, 864, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)). Before the DOC card was 

introduced, the trial court gave a limiting instruction to the jury: 
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"The Court: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I'm allowing 
evidence about to be discussed and presented to you that is 
the subject of this instruction, and in connection with this 
evidence that's about to be presented to you, you may 
consider this evidence only for the purpose of 
identification. " 

3RP 222. 

The following jury instruction was also given to the jury: 

"Instruction #7: Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for 
only a limited purpose. The testimony of Ms. Helen Desmond, the 
Department of Corrections Identification and Exhibit 40, the 
cellular telephone records may be considered only for the purpose 
of identification. You may not consider this testimony or evidence 
for any other purpose. Any discussion of the evidence during your 
deliberations must be consistent with this limitation." 

CP 112-140. (Emphasis added.) 

Therefore, because the jury is presumed to have followed the 

court's instructions to use the DOC card as evidence for identifying the 

driver of the stolen vehicle, any unfair prejudice resulting from the card's 

admission was cured. 

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS 
DISCRETION BY ADMITTING DOC OFFICER 
DESMOND'S TESTIMONY BECAUSE IT DIRECTLY 
LINKED THE DEFENDANT TO HIS CELL PHONE 

Standard of Review 

Trial court rulings relating to the admission of evidence are 

reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Ruiz, 176 Wn.App. 623, 634, 
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309 P.3d 700 (2013) (citing State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821,856,83 P.3d 

970 (2004)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is manifestly 

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. " In re 

Marriage of Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23,35,283 P.3d 546 (2012), cert. denied, 

- U.S. -, 133 S.Ct. 889,184 L.Ed.2d 661 (2013). 

1. The testimony of Desmond was not cumulative because 
it covered new evidence completely unrelated to the 
DOC identification card. 

The possibility that evidence may be cumulative may be a basis for 

exclusion only if the risk of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the 

probative value of the evidence. ER 403. Evidence likely to provoke an 

emotional response rather than a rational decision is unfairly prejudicial. 

State v. Johnson, 90 Wn.App. 54, 62, 950 P.2d 981 (1998). The ability of 

the danger of unfair prejudice to substantially outweigh the probative force 

of evidence is quite slim where the evidence is undeniably probative of a 

central issue in the case. Sisley v. Seattle School Dist. No.1, 171 Wn.App. 

227, 233, 286 P.3d 974 (2012) (citing Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 

224,867 P.2d 610 (1994)). 

The trial court has wide discretion in balancing the probative value 

of evidence against its potentially prejudicial impact. State v. Rivers, 129 

Wn.2d 697, 710, 921 P.2d 495 (1996). Generally, an appellate court will 
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defer to the assessment of the trial judge, who is best suited to determine 

the prejudicial effect of evidence. State v. Powell, 166 W n.2d 73, 81, 206 

P.3d 321 (2009). 

Although Officer Desmond was employed as a DOC officer, her 

testimony was unrelated to the defendant's DOC identification card. While 

the DOC card linked the defendant to the stolen vehicle, Ms. Desmond's 

testimony linked the defendant to a cell phone found inside the stolen 

vehicle. Furthermore, there was no stipulation that the phone belonged to 

the defendant and the defendant had not yet testified when Desmond 

testified. Although the defendant later testified that the phone belonged to 

him, at the time Desmond testified, there was no direct evidence 

establishing the ownership of the cell phone. While the defendant offered 

to stipulate "that the phone was his at one time," during motions in limine, 

outside the presence of the jury, the offer to stipulate was in relation to a 

completely different issue-the admission of the text messages. lRP at 30. 

2. The significant probative value of the testimony 
identifYing the defendant as the owner of the phone 
found in the stolen vehicle outweighed any unfairly 
prejudicial effect 

The probative value of the testimony of Desmond was not 

outweighed by unfair prejudice because it did not include any evidence 

19 



likely to provoke in the jury an emotional response rather than a rational 

decision. DOC Officer Desmond testified that the she was a "community 

corrections officer," and that she receives "contact information from 

particular people," and the defendant was one of those people. 3RP 318-

22. Desmond further testified that she had received from the defendant 

emergency contact information for the defendant's father and the specific 

phone numbers that were provided. 3RP 320-21. 

This testimony allowed the jury to determine that the defendant 

was the owner of the cell phone found in the stolen vehicle. While it 

would not be difficult to connect the dots and assume that the defendant 

was under DOC supervision, there was absolutely no information elicited 

from Officer Desmond as to what the defendant had done to require DOC 

supervision or as to why she had the defendants contact and emergency 

contact information. Furthermore, it is unclear how the defendant was 

labeled as a "felony offender," as there is no mention of "felony" in the 

record. 

The evidence directly linking the defendant to the cell phone that 

was found in the stolen vehicle was substantially probative and aided the 

jury in determining that the defendant was the person driving the stolen 

vehicle during the high speed chase. 
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In discussing the probative value of the DOC identification card 

the DOC Officer Desmond's testimony, the trial court found that the value 

of the evidence outweighed any danger of unfair prejudice. 

"The Court: First of all, the item in question and any identifying 
testimony that Ms. Desmond from the Department of Corrections 
would give about this is highly relevant." 

RP 41 . The court continued: 

"The Court: The relevance of this, which is substantial, clearly 
outweighs any danger of unfair prejudice from any inference that 
might be drawn from the evidence that Mr. Cartmell was the 
subject of DOC supervision because of criminal activity. First of 
all, the Court would certainly not permit any evidence of why this 
card was issued or what the crimes were that he was previously 
convicted of that required that he have an offender DOC card or 
something of that nature. There will be no evidence whatsoever of 
that. I'm sure the State would not seek to introduce any such 
evidence. So it's just a matter of the card itself and any brief 
identifying testimony from Ms. Desmond. 

I guess the question arises to one extent or another as to whether 
any testimony would even be necessary, but perhaps there would 
be some identifying testimony, if necessary, from Ms. Desmond to 
the effect that this Derek Cartmell is in fact the Derek Cartmell 
who's identified on this card or something of that nature, although 
that may be obvious from the card itself and the picture on the card 
and the like." 

RP 41-42. 

Deference must be given to the trial judge's determination because 

he was the best suited to determine the prejudicial effect of the evidence. 
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Therefore, admission of Officer Desmond's testimony was not an abuse of 

discretion. 

3. The Court s Limiting Instruction Cured Any Unfair 
Prejudice Resulting From The Testimony OJ Officer 
Desmond About Her Occupation 

The jury was given two separate instructions limiting its use of the 

testimony of Officer Desmond. Again, jurors are presumed to follow the 

court's limiting instructions. State v. Hecht,--- P.3d ----, 2014 WL 627852, 

Wn.App. Div. 1 (2014) (citing State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 864, 889 

P.2d 487 (1995)). Two different instructions were given to the jury 

addressing Desmond's testimony. 

First, before Officer Desmond took the witness stand, the court 

gave the following limiting instruction: 

"The Court: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I'm allowing 
the witness to testify in this case, but the evidence that is 
given through the witness may be considered only for the 
purpose of identification." 

3RP317. 

Then, at the close of the case, the jury was again provided 

with instructions regarding certain evidence, including Desmond' s 

testimony: 
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"Instruction #7: Certain evidence has been admitted in this 
case for only a limited purpose. The testimony of Ms. 
Helen Desmond, the Department of Corrections 
Identification and Exhibit 40, the cellular telephone records 
may be considered only for the purpose of identification. 
You may not consider this testimony or evidence for any 
other purpose. Any discussion of the evidence during your 
deliberations must be consistent with this limitation." 

CP 112-140 (emphasis added). 

Therefore, because the jury is presumed to have followed the Court's 

instructions to use Desmond's testimony only as evidence for identifying 

who was driving the stolen vehicle, any unfair prejudice resulting from the 

testimony regarding her occupation was cured. 

C. THE ISSUE OF THE LEGAL SUFFICIENCY OF THE 
SEARCH WARRANTS IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT 

Under article I, section 7, "[a] warrantless search is per se 

unreasonable and its fruits will be suppressed unless it falls within one of 

the carefully drawn and jealously guarded exceptions to the warrant 

requirement." State v. Ortega, 177 Wn.2d 116, 122, 297 P.3d 57 (2013). 

One of those exceptions is for voluntarily abandoned property, which 

officers may lawfully search without a warrant. State v. Evans, 159 Wn.2d 

402, 407-08, 150 P.3d 105 (2007). Where property is voluntarily 

abandoned, law enforcement officers may retrieve and search it without 

implicating an individual's rights under the Fourth Amendment or under 
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article I, section 7 of our state constitution. State v. Reynolds, 144 Wn.2d 

282,287,27 P.3d 200 (2001). 

1. The Court did not rely on the search warrants in 
admitting the evidence gathered from the cell phone 
so the issue of whether the warrants were legally 
sufficient is not before this court 

In its ruling on the defendant's motion to suppress the contents of 

the backpack and the cell phone, the Court stated: 

RP 34. 

"The Court: In my judgment, after a thorough review of the 
file records and the case authorities, it is not necessary for 
the Court to reach the issue of whether these were proper 
affidavits for warrants and whether they were properly 
issued by the Court because it is evident to the Court from 
the record before the Court that Mr. Cartmell abandoned 
these items. That means that there was no search in 
connection with the backpack and the cell phone because 
they were abandoned." 

The court then went on to its legal analysis regarding 

abandonment. The defendant is not challenging the court ' s determination 

that the items were abandoned. He is challenging the sufficiency of the 

search warrants. See Appellant's Brief; Appellant's Statement of 

Additional Grounds. The Court found that because the driver of the stolen 

vehicle fled from the scene, leaving everything behind in the crashed 
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pickup truck, the items, including the defendant's cell phone, had been 

abandoned. 

Therefore, the Court found, no search warrants were required for 

any of the items, including the cell phone. Because the trial court did not 

rely on the search warrants and because the defendant has not raised the 

issue of abandonment on appeal, the issues of whether the warrants were 

legally sufficient or whether the items were actually abandoned, this court 

need not address them on appeal. 

D. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY 
ADMITTING THE TEXT MESSAGES BECAUSE THEY 
WERE NOT HEARSAY 

Otherwise admissible evidence may be properly excluded as 

hearsay, which, absent the applicability of certain exceptions, IS 

inadmissible. ER 802. Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the

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